FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
2/5/2020 2:03 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/5/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK No. 79059-5-1

98155-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

In the Matter of the Parentage of:

D.L. and J.L., Children,

LEANNE LOWE,

Appellant,

and.

ERIK NILSEN,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Sharon J. Blackford, WSBA # 25331 Attorney for Appellant

SHARON BLACKFORD PLLC

600 Stewart Street, Ste. 400 Seattle, Washington 98101 <u>sharon@washingtonappellatelaw.com</u> 206/459.0441

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
B.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
	1. Does the Court of Appeals' interpretation of RCW 26.09.260(6) in <i>Grigsby</i> prohibiting modification based on fear of future relocations govern when the defending party in the modification is no longer pursuing relocation, was found to have recently withdrawn a relocation in bad faith, and the children are found to be doing "phenomenally well"?
	2. Are the interpretation of RCW 26.09.260(6) and clarification of the scope of the <i>Grigsby</i> rule a matter of substantial public interest?
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E.	ARGUMENT
	Whether RCW 26.09.260(6) permits modification based on fear of future relocations when there has been a bad faith withdrawal of relocation is a question of continuing and substantial public interest that should be reviewed by this Court
F.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

DECISIONS OF THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT	
In re Marriage of Horner, 151 Wn.2d 884, 93 P.3d 124 (2004) 8	
In re Marriage of Timmons, 84 Wn.2d 594, 617 P.2d 1032 (1980) 8-9	
DECISIONS OF THE WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS	
In re Marriage of Grigsby, 112 Wn.App. 1, 57 P.3d 1166 (2002)	
WASHINGTON STATE STATUTES	
RCW 26.09.260	
RCW 26.09.520 8	
WASHINGTON COURT RULES	
RAP 13.4(4)	

A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

Petitioner Leanne Lowe is the mother of the two boys whose parenting is at issue here. She was the appellant at the Court of Appeals and defending party in the father's motion to modify the parenting plan.

B. <u>COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Petitioner Leanne Lowe seeks review of the Washington State

Court of Appeals, Division I's January 6, 2020 decision in Court of

Appeals Cause Number 79059-5-I affirming the superior court's grant of
the father's modification petition based on an unsuccessful attempt to
relocate and fear of future relocation. A copy of the decision is attached as
Appendix 1 to this Petition.

C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. Does the Court of Appeals' interpretation of RCW 26.09.260(6) in *Grigsby* prohibiting modification based on fear of future relocations govern when the defending party in the modification is no longer pursuing relocation, was found to have recently withdrawn a relocation in bad faith, and the children are found to be doing "phenomenally well"?
- 2. Are the interpretation of RCW 26.09.260(6) and clarification of the scope of the *Grigsby* rule a matter of substantial public interest?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Parentage for the parties' twin boys was established in 2011 and Ms. Lowe was named primary caregiver. CP 276.

Per agreement of the parties, each parent had primary care of one of the twins before school age, and per agreement, Leanne and J.L. spent periods of time in California and Canada before permanently returning to the Puget Sound region. *Id.*; 1 RP 74-75; 3 RP 236. Ms. Lowe's location at that time was dictated by her job. CP 286; 2 RP 78.

In 2015 the parties had a trial before Judge Doyle, who then entered a final parenting plan on December 23, 2015. CP 31. This plan continued the pattern of Ms. Lowe as primary caregiver. CP 32.

On February 16, 2016, the parties amended the plan by agreement to correct what both parties have agreed was a minor typographic error. CP 50, 1109-10, 1164.

In February 2017, Ms. Lowe had a potential job offer in Florida which she discussed with Mr. Nilsen. 2 RP 214. As a result of these discussions, Ms. Lowe did not file a notice of relocation to Florida. *Id*. The trial court characterized this as a "relocation." 4 RP 308.

In March 2017, Ms. Lowe filed a Notice of Relocation intending to move with the children to California. 2 RP 84. Representing herself for part of the proceedings, Ms. Lowe did not properly understand the

relocation procedures or court orders regarding the presumption or lack thereof and she filed and withdrew various documents regarding the status of her ability to move her daughter Ava to California. 2 RP 84-85, 87, 90.

By agreement, Ms. Lowe spent their allotted summer vacation with the boys in California in 2017, then they all returned to Issaquah by the start of the school year. The trial court later called this a "relocation" contributing to "chaos" in the boys' lives. 1 RP 17.

GAL Lisa Barton recommended that Ms. Lowe remain primary parent unless she relocates. CP 1235. Ms. Lowe unsuccessfully attempted to have her relocation petition dismissed about a month after GAL Barton's report and a month before trial. *Id.* Ultimately the superior court found Ms. Lowe had withdrawn her relocation in "bad faith." 1 RP 14; CP 1235. Ms. Lowe was not pursuing relocation at the time of the modification trial. CP 584-86.

Then on November 20, 2017, Mr. Nilsen moved for adequate cause for a major modification of the permanent parenting plan based primarily on fear of future attempts at relocation by Ms. Lowe. CP 584-86. Commissioner Royer found no adequate cause for modification.

On revision, Judge Thorp read into the record *Grigsby*'s dictum "[w]e do not reach the question of whether a trial court would have the authority to modify a parenting plan when the withdrawal of the request to

relocate is disingenuous or made in bad faith because these facts are not before us in this case." 1 RP 15; 12 Wn. App. 1, 3, 57 P.3d 1166 (2002). The court then stated "[t]he findings of bad faith and disingenuous withdrawal of relocation clearly have a relation and tie to how the court should consider pursuit of modification. I mean, the Court of Appeals told me so." 1 RP 16. The superior court then concluded, "I do believe that *Grigsby* provides the authority for this court to hear the modification based upon these specific and unique factors." 1 RP 17.

Further, the court stated, "Ms. Lowe's on notice about these repeated relocations." Then "[t]hese kids don't live through all these relocations, particularly, as the evidence is presented, the sheer number of times these kids have already moved." 1 RP 17. The court continued, "[b]ut initially, splitting the children, then them coming back and then – I count at least the request to Florida … and then the move to California." *Id*.

The court concluded adequate cause for modification was present because "there is a substantial change in circumstances.... it's because there was no way for the court to know that Ms. Lowe would continue to use relocation as a sword to the detriment of these children ... there's clear detriment; the chaos for these children." 1 RP 18. The court emphasized "the really uniqueness – and I cannot emphasize this enough – the

uniqueness of the facts before this court. I have done extensive Westlaw research and have found no cases that fall into that section of *Grigsby* because this is so phenomenally unique I believe." 1 RP 18-19.

At the time of the modification trial, the boys lived with Ms. Lowe in the same house in Issaquah that they lived in when they were born. 2RP 78. Mr. Nilsen lives in Bothell.

At the conclusion of the modification trial, the court modified the parenting plan based on fear of relocation, naming Mr. Nilsen as primary caregiver, giving him the majority of residential time, and moving the children from Issaquah to Bothell school district:

the repeated statements and perhaps characterizing some particularly, the relocation to Florida, these threats of relocation are a detriment to the kids. They're a detriment in their environment because it causes them to question whether or not they will have a relationship with the other most important person in their lives. Every time they're being told "You're going to move, sister in[sic] California already," it destabilizes them.

4 RP 308.

The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding that adequate cause for modification was present because the superior court "required Nilsen to show adequate cause on his own modification petition after the petition for relocation had been withdrawn. Nilsen complied by submitting an affidavit as required by RCW 26.09.270." Slip Op at 7.

Regarding the substantial change of circumstances supporting modification, the Court of Appeals affirmed that because Ms. Lowe had since the December 2015 parenting plan discussed relocation to Florida with Mr. Nilsen and then filed a petition to relocate to California, these attempted relocations were adverse to the best interests of the children, constituting a substantial change of circumstances. Slip Op. at 10.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals affirmed that Ms. Lowe created a substantial change of circumstances because she "repeatedly involved the children in parental conflicts" by taking them to a Taekwondo class that met on Thursday nights at which they were doing well, which also had an optional Tuesday session when the boys are with their father. 2 RP 62, 113; 3 RP 252. Ms. Lowe did not request Mr. Nilsen to take the children to Taekwondo on Tuesday nights. 2 RP 113-16.

The Court of Appeals concluded "the trial court had sufficient evidence of the mother's continued threats of relocation and involving the boys in parental conflict occurring after the prior order to conclude that a substantial change of circumstances in the lives of the children had occurred." Slip Op. at 12. The Court of Appeals held that "the behavior of Lowe posed a risk of harm to the children and was not in their best interest." Slip Op. at 13.

Ms. Lowe now petitions for review by this Court.

E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

WHETHER RCW 26.09.260(6) PERMITS
MODIFICATION BASED ON FEAR OF FUTURE
RELOCATIONS WHEN THERE HAS BEEN A BAD
FAITH WITHDRAWAL OF RELOCATION IS A
QUESTION OF CONTINUING AND SUBSTANTIAL
PUBLIC INTEREST THAT SHOULD BE
REVIEWED BY THIS COURT

Interpreting RCW 26.09.260(6), *In re Marriage of Grigsby*, 112 Wn.App. 1, 57 P.3d 1166 (2002) set forth the rule that fear of future relocation "is not an appropriate basis for modification of a parenting plan." The *Grigsby* court left open the applicability of its interpretation where there has been a bad faith withdrawal of the request to relocate. "We do not reach the question of whether a trial court would have the authority to modify a parenting plan when the withdrawal of the request to relocate is disingenuous or made in bad faith because these facts are not before us in this case." *Grigsby*, at 17.

The case at bar asks that very question. Since its publication in 2002, *Grigsby* has been cited in 24 cases, 12 of those published. During that time, there have also been 5 decisions focusing on bad faith relocations. Yet at no time has the question left open in *Grigsby* been answered. Review is needed to provide lower courts with the correct interpretation of RCW 26.09.260(6).

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(4), this court accepts a petition for review when the petition involves an issue of continuing and substantial public interest that requires the guidance of the Supreme Court. Since its publication in 2002, *Grigsby* has been cited in 24 cases, 12 of those published. During that time, there have also been 5 decisions focusing on bad faith relocations. The question raised by this case is of substantial public interest because it relates to issues that are currently and frequently litigated in trial and appellate courts.

This court has articulated that issues are of a public nature when they concern the interpretation of RCW 26.09.520. *In re Marriage of Horner*, 151 Wn.2d 884, 892-93, 93 P.3d 124 (2004). Specifically, this court has held that "issues surrounding the interpretation of RCW 26.09.520 are likely to recur given the frequency of dissolution, joint custody, and relocation in today's society." *Id.* While this is not a relocation case, it lies at the intersection of the frequently litigated areas of relocation and modification; it asks this court to determine whether fear of future relocations constitutes adequate cause for modification if there has been a bad faith withdrawal of a relocation request.

This court has previously granted review to correct the interpretation of RCW 26.09.260 and clarify the evidence that may be presented to show a change of circumstances justifying modification. *In re*

the Marriage of Timmons, 84 Wn.2d 594, 617 P.2d 1032 (1980). In *Timmons*, this court accepted review because it was unclear whether the facts giving rise to a substantial change of circumstances could occur prior to an agreed parenting plan. Guidance was necessary to determine how to give effect to the intent and purpose of the legislature's enactment of RCW 26.09.260. Timmons, 84 Wn.2d at 599.

Here, guidance is necessary to determine how to give effect to the intent and purpose of RCW 26.09.260(6). Specifically, whether a finding of bad faith withdrawal of relocation provides adequate cause for a major modification of a parenting plan. RCW 26.09.260(6) provides in relevant part that:

The court may order adjustments to the residential aspects of a parenting plan pursuant to a proceeding to permit or restrain a relocation of the child. The person objecting to the relocation of the child or the relocating person's proposed revised residential schedule may file a petition to modify the parenting plan, including a change of the residence in which the child resides the majority of the time, without a showing of adequate cause other than the proposed relocation itself. A hearing to determine adequate cause for modification shall not be required so long as the request for relocation of the child is being pursued.

The Court of Appeals interpreted this statute to mean that that fear of future relocation "is not an appropriate basis for modification of a parenting plan" because relocation is not currently being pursued. 112 Wn. App. at 16. *Grigsby* left open the applicability of this rule where there has

been a bad faith withdrawal of the request to relocate. *Grigsby* is currently an area of active litigation, as it has been cited in 12 published cases in the last 18 years.

While RCW 26.09.260(6) articulates the need for an adequate cause hearing (no adequate cause hearing needed when a relocation is currently being pursued), *Grigsby* interpreted this statute to mean that fear of future relocations cannot provide adequate cause or basis for modification of a parenting plan. "Nonetheless, fear that a parent may decide to move in the future is not an appropriate basis for modification of a parenting plan." *Grigsby*, 112 Wn. App. at 16. In Ms. Lowe's case, an adequate cause hearing was held at which the trial court specifically relied upon fear of future relocation as the basis for adequate cause to modify. "[T]here is a substantial change in circumstances.... it's because there was no way for the court to know that Ms. Lowe would continue to use relocation as a sword to the detriment of these children ... there's clear detriment; the chaos for these children." 1 RP 18. So the issue this Court is being asked to review is not whether an adequate cause hearing is necessary; the issue is whether RCW 26.09.260(6) precludes fear of future relocations as a basis for modifications and if so, the scope of that preclusion.

This issue should be resolved by this court because the interpretation of RCW 26.09.260(6) is currently unclear. Ms. Lowe's case asked the Court of Appeals to clarify whether the *Grigsby* rule governs or whether this case falls within the exception noted in *Grigsby*'s dicta. The Court of Appeals was unable to resolve the question. Instead, the Court of Appeals simply held that "the trial court had sufficient evidence of the mother's continuing threats of relocation and involving the boys in parental conflict occurring after the prior order to conclude that a substantial change of circumstances in the lives of the children had occurred." Slip Op. at 12. This Court's guidance is needed.

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

This court's guidance is needed to clarify whether RCW 26.09.260(6) permits a parenting plan to be modified based on fear of future relocation when there has been a bad faith withdrawal of relocation in the past. This is a question of continuing and substantial public interest as relocation, modification, and the interaction of these two areas of parenting law are currently the subject of frequent litigation. The Court of Appeals decision in *Grigsby* left this an open question that requires guidance and resolution. Ms. Lowe respectfully requests this court accept review and reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I in this matter.

DATED this 5th day of February, 2020.

Respectfully submitted:

Sharon J. Blackford, WSBA # 25331 Attorney for Petitioner/Appellant

Leanne Lowe