FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/20/2020 9:45 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98155-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re Parentage of:

Devon Lowe & Jackson Lowe, Children,

ERIK NILSEN,

Respondent,

v.

LEANNE LOWE,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

BUCKINGHAM, LAGRANDEUR

AND WILLIAMS, INC. P.S.

By: Valerie Villacin WSBA No. 34515 By: Christy K. LaGrandeur WSBA No. 27334

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

321 Burnett Avenue South

Suite 200

Renton, WA 98057 (425) 228-6662

Attorneys for Respondent

B. Restatement of the Case.

1. Background.

The following facts are adopted from the Court of Appeals decision, which is Appendix A to the Petition for Review ("Op."):

"Leanne Lowe and Erik Nilsen are the parents of twin boys, J.L. and D.L. The boys were born on March 2, 2010. They have strong and stable relationships with both parents. Nilsen first sought a parenting plan regarding the children in 2011. While the parentage action was pending, Lowe moved with the boys to California without a court order. She rented out her Washington home and entered a one year lease in California. The court ordered Lowe to return the boys to Washington. Lowe then sought a negotiated plan with Nilsen. The parents agreed on a parenting plan on February 8, 2012. Under the plan, D.L. would reside a majority of the time with Nilsen

in Washington while J.L. would reside a majority of the time with Lowe in California. The plan called for the boys to be reunited in Washington by September 2, 2014. One child would remain with each parent in the Puget Sound area. If Lowe didn't return to the Puget Sound area, both children would reside a majority of the time with the Nilsen." (Op. 1-2)

"Lowe returned to Washington in between the summer and fall of 2014. Nilsen then petitioned to modify the parenting plan. Lisa Barton completed a guardian ad litem (GAL) report on behalf of both children on August 12, 2015. Barton recommended that the children have close to equal residential time with each parent. But, she recommended slightly more time with Lowe in order to facilitate going to school with their half-sister, Lowe's daughter. She also recommended that the statutory presumption in favor of relocation under RCW 26.09.520 should not apply in this case. On December 23, 2015, the trial court adopted these recommendations in a new parenting plan. The parties subsequently modified the plan by agreement to correct a minor error. The updated plan was filed on February 8, 2016." (Op. 2)

"About a year later, in early February 2017, Lowe informed Nilsen that she had a potential job offer in Florida. She told Nilsen

that she would take the offer and relocate to Florida unless Nilsen agreed to modify the parenting plan. Lowe told Nilsen that 'as the primary custodial parent, [she] would have a very strong argument in court for relocation.' She said that if Nilsen did not agree to her plan he '[would] be facing BOTH an appeals case and a relocation case.' But, if Nilsen approved her updated parenting plan, she would reject her Florida job offer. However, she refused to rule out further relocation, saying only that the reasons for future location would need to be 'more imperative,' such as her getting remarried to a man in another state. Nilsen agreed to Lowe's demands. Lowe later told the GAL that she 'was willing to agree to not move to Florida' because she wasn't really considering it anyway." (Op. 2-3)

"One month later, in March 2017, Lowe filed a notice of intent to relocate to California. Lowe stated that her employer had mandated this move. She further stated that she needed to move because she was getting married to a man named Robert Burge, who lived in southern California. Lowe also stated that the move was necessary because her daughter had a skin condition that required her to be in a warmer climate. In her declaration in support of her request, she underlined that the law includes a presumption that children be allowed to move pursuant to RCW 26.09.520. She did

not include that her existing parenting plan specifically removed the relocation presumption in this case. Nilsen objected to the relocation. He proposed that if Lowe were to move, the parenting plan should be modified so that the children live with him the majority of the time." (Op. 3)

"Barton was again appointed as the GAL for the children to address issues related to relocation and development of a parenting plan. She issued her report on June 29, 2017. Barton reported that Lowe's marriage to Burge 'does appear to be an afterthought in an effort to gain traction for the relocation action.' Burge reported to Barton that that their relationship had 'changed' in early March, when Lowe gave her the notice to relocate. Barton also noted that it was 'interesting' that Lowe did not mention marrying until Nilsen raised the issue when the parties were discussing relocation. And, Barton learned from Lowe's employer that they considered her move to California to be for 'personal reasons' rather than a job requirement as Lowe had claimed. She said that Lowe had provided no evidence regarding her daughter's medical condition requiring her to move to California. Barton reported that Lowe told her that she had discussed the potential move with the children." (Op. 3-4)

"Barton recommended that the relocation be denied. She also recommended that the children should reside primarily with Nilsen. On August 1, 2017, about a month after Barton issued her report, Lowe withdrew her request to relocate and moved to dismiss Nilsen's modification action. Nilsen objected and asked the court to allow his modification action to proceed. The trial court found that Lowe had acted in bad faith throughout the relocation action. It also found that her withdrawal of the relocation notice was disingenuous and submitted in bad faith. The court ordered Lowe to pay \$9,811.88 in attorney fees to Nilsen. It also denied her motion to dismiss Nilsen's modification action, but instructed Nilsen to file a separate motion for adequate cause to modify the plan." (Op. 4)

"On October 12, 2017, Nilsen filed a petition to modify the parenting plan. He proposed that the boys reside with him 15 out of 28 days, and with Lowe 13 out of 28 days. The court found adequate cause for a hearing to modify the plan based on Lowe's constant threats of relocation creating a detriment to the children." After a trial, the court approved Nilsen's proposed changes to the parenting plan, after making nearly fifty findings of fact in support of its decision. (Op. 4-5)

2. Court of Appeals decision.

Division One affirmed the trial court's decision in an unpublished opinion. The Court of Appeals rejected Lowe's argument, reasserted in this Court, that the trial court's decision to modify the parenting plan was based solely on a "fear of future relocations" and was inconsistent with *Marriage of Grigsby*, 112 Wn. App. 1, 57 P.3d 1166 (2002), which reversed a trial court's decision modifying a parenting plan after the mother, who unsuccessfully sought to relocate the children, withdrew her request to relocate. The Court of Appeals correctly distinguished *Grisby* from this case on both the facts and the law.

First, unlike here, the trial court in *Grigsby* did not find that the mother withdrew her relocation in bad faith. (Op. 7) The Court of Appeals noted that this case raised a question that the *Grigsby* Court specifically declined to reach — "whether a trial court would have authority to modify the parenting plan" if, as here, the trial court found that both the request to relocate, and the withdrawal of that request, was made in bad faith. (Op. 7)

Second, unlike in *Grigsby*, Nilsen in this case showed adequate cause for his petition to modify the parenting plan after the petition for relocation had been withdrawn. (Op. 7) Accordingly, the

Court of Appeals held that the trial court did not rely solely on the relocation request as a basis for modifying the parenting plan, and properly allowed Nilsen to pursue modification upon the necessary threshold showing. (Op. 7)

In affirming the trial court's decision, the Court of Appeals relied on the unique facts of this case, and the trial court's nearly fifty findings on those facts, which the Court concluded was supported by substantial evidence. (Op. 10) Specifically, the Court concluded that substantial evidence supported the trial court's determination that "a change was necessary because Lowe's repeated attempts to relocate, and repeated involvement of the children in parental conflicts, were adverse to the best interests of the children." (Op. 10) The Court concluded "the trial court had sufficient evidence of the mother's continued threats of relocation and involving the boys in parental conflict occurring after the prior order to conclude that a substantial change of circumstances in the lives of the children had occurred. The court had additional reasons to believe this behavior would continue under the current residential schedule. Its reasons for exercising its discretion to modify the parenting plan are not manifestly unreasonable." (Op. 12)

The Court of Appeals held substantial evidence supported the trial court's finding that Lowe "does not recognize the detriment of telling the children they will be moving and involving them in the parental conflict. The mother has continued in these pursuits... The need to have repeated court actions that result in the mother withdrawing her requests or reaching agreement demonstrates that the mother's conduct in threatening to move is adverse to the best interests of the children." (Addendum Findings of Fact ("AFF") 45, CP 1249; Op. 10) Since the last parenting plan was entered, Lowe had twice threatened to relocate the sons: "first, to Florida and then, a month later, to California. She used her first request to relocate, a move she later stated she 'was not considering' anyway, to get more residential time from Nilsen. She was forced to withdraw her second request after the GAL uncovered inconsistencies in her proffered reasons for the move. That request came only one month after exacting concessions in exchange for dropping her previous request to move to Florida." (Op. 10)

Further, the Court of Appeals noted that "Lowe admitted to discussing the potential move to California with the children, in violation of a prohibition in the parenting plan. She moved to California with her daughter, but without her sons, while a decision

from the trial court was pending, making the boys all the more aware of the potential separation from their father." (Op. 10-11) "Lowe also involved the children in her attempts to interfere with Nilsen's residential time. She did this by enrolling the children in a Taekwondo class that met on Tuesdays and Thursdays, even though Tuesday was Nilsen's only residential weekday with the boys." (Op. 11) The sons were aware that these classes overlapped with their residential time with Nilsen. Lowe "framed Nilsen's choice by saying 'if he chose to support their goal, then that was up to him.'" (Op. 11) The Court therefore agreed with the trial court's conclusion "that this placed Nilsen in a situation to either disappoint the boys or lose his only weekday time with them. The facts support a conclusion of abusive use of conflict by Lowe and of involving the children in the conflict." (Op. 11)

Finally, the Court of Appeals acknowledged that to the extent the trial court had a "fear of future relocations" by Lowe, substantial evidence supported that fear. The Court noted that "just 17 days prior to trial, Lowe e-mailed her daughter's father, indicating that all his visits with their daughter after September 1, 2018 would take place 'at [her] residence in Costa Mesa, California.' The trial court thus found her trial testimony that she didn't have a residence in

Costa Mesa not credible . . . The court also found this exchange indicated either that the mother would deliberately schedule her daughter's residential time with her father in Costa Mesa without the boys, that she would take the boys with her to Costa Mesa, or that she would be residing in Costa Mesa." (Op. 12)

C. Grounds for Denying Review.

This Court should deny review of Division One's unpublished opinion affirming the trial court's fact-based discretionary decision modifying the parties' parenting plan, as it does not raise an issue of "substantial public interest" warranting review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4). There is no need for this Court to accept review of this unpublished opinion to "provide lower courts with the correct interpretation of RCW 26.09.260(6)." (Pet. 7) This provision of RCW 26.09.260 is unambiguous and there is already a published Court of Appeals' opinion addressing this provision, with which Division One's unpublished opinion is wholly consistent.

RCW 26.09.260(6) provides that a person objecting to the other parent's request to relocate the children "may file a petition to modify the parenting plan, including a change of the residence in which the child resides the majority of the time, without a showing of adequate cause other than the proposed relocation itself. A

hearing to determine adequate cause for modification shall not be required so long as the request for relocation of the child is being pursued." The statute is plain – an objecting parent need not show adequate cause for their petition for modification so long as "the request for relocation is being pursued."

Consistent with its plain language, the Court of Appeals in Marriage of Grigsby, 112 Wn. App. 1, 57 P.3d 1166 (2002) held that RCW 26.09.260(6) provided that "the normal requirement of a showing of adequate cause is excused only so long as relocation is being pursued. Where, as here, the parent is no longer pursuing relocation, the parent proposing modification of the parenting plan must show a substantial change in circumstances, considering the factors set forth in RCW 26.09.260(2)." 112 Wn. App. at 16 (emphasis in original).

Review of Division One's unpublished opinion is not necessary "to provide lower courts with the correct interpretation of RCW 26.09.260(6)" because there is no confusion, as evidenced by the trial court's decision here. Division One's opinion is wholly consistent with the plain language of RCW 26.09.260(6) and *Grigsby's* interpretation of this provision. The trial court here "required Nilsen to show adequate cause on his own modification

petition after the petition for relocation had been withdrawn." (Op. 7) Lowe does not contend that the trial court wrongly interpreted RCW 26.09.260(6); she only claims that the trial court wrongly found adequate cause existed. That is a discretionary, fact-based decision that raises no issue warranting review by this Court.

Division One properly affirmed the trial court's decision modifying the parenting plan when the trial court found a substantial change in circumstances had occurred since the prior plan was entered that was "adverse to the best interests of the children" because "the behavior of Lowe posed a risk of harm to the children and was not in their best interest," thus a "change was necessary." (Op. 9-10, 13) The trial court's decision is consistent with RCW 26.09.260(1) and (2), which limit a court's authority to modify a parenting plan unless it finds "that a substantial change has occurred in the circumstances of the child or the nonmoving party and that the modification is in the best interest of the child and is necessary to serve the best interests of the child," because "the child's present environment is detrimental to the child's physical, mental, or emotional health and the harm likely to be caused by a change of environment is outweighed by the advantage of a change to the child."

This Court should decline Lowe's invitation to review Division One's unpublished opinion "to determine whether fear of future relocations constitutes adequate cause for modification if there has been a bad faith withdrawal of a relocation request" (Pet. 8) because whether certain facts establish adequate cause is better left to the trial court. The impact one parent's repeated attempts to relocate the children has on a family depends on the family and the facts.

As this Court has held, "parenting plans are individualized decisions that depend upon a wide variety of factors, including 'culture, family history, the emotional stability of the parents and children, finances, and any of the other factors that could bear upon the best interests of the children.' The combination of relevant factors and their comparative weight are certain to be different in every case, and no rule of general applicability could be effectively constructed." *Parentage of Jannot*, 149 Wn.2d 123, 127, 65 P.3d 664 (2003). "The very nature of a trial court makes it better suited than an appellate court to weigh these varied factors on a case-by-case basis." *Jannot*, 149 Wn.2d at 127.

Here, after weighing the evidence presented at trial trial, the trial court found that Lowe's repeated attempts to relocate the children was detrimental to the children. (AFF 19, 22, 26, 29, 33, 36,

44, 45, 47, CP 1245, 1246, 1247, 1248, 1249; RP 18) In affirming the trial court's decision, Division One concluded that there was substantial evidence to support the trial court's finding that Lowe's constant efforts to minimize Nilsen's relationship with the children created an environment that was detrimental and necessitating a change that neutralized the "sword" – Lowe's designation as the primary residential parent – that she persistently wielded to create conflict, to the children's detriment. (See AFF 33, 26, CP 1247; RP 18)

For instance, Lowe violated the parenting plan in ways that "necessarily interfered with [Nilsen]'s residential time," involved the children in parental conflict, and used threats to relocate to minimize Nilsen's role in the children's lives. (AFF 19, 22, 29, 33, 36, 44, 45, CP 1245, 1246, 1247, 1248, 1249; see also AFF 47, CP 1249) Lowe's actions cause the sons "to question whether or not they will have a relationship with the other most important person in their lives. Every time they're being told 'You're going to move, sister in California already,' it destabilizes them." (RP 308) Lowe's refusal to correct her behavior created conflict, which the trial court found "a detriment to the children, as they continue to live in the conflict and chaos that the mother has generated." (AFF 36, CP 1247)

By affirming the trial court's decision, Division One did exactly what this Court has directed appellate courts to do - not "substitute] its judgment for that of the trial court" in reviewing a trial court's discretionary decision modifying a parenting plan. Marriage of McDole, 122 Wn.2d 604, 610, 859 P.2d 1239 (1993). Accepting review in this Court to determine whether a "fear of future relocations constitutes adequate cause for modification if there has been a bad faith withdrawal of a relocation request" would place it in a position that it has repeatedly refused to be placed – as arbiter over discretionary parenting decisions. Review by this Court would require it to construct a "rule of general applicability" as to what weight a trial court should place on one parent's repeated attempts to relocate and their bad faith in pursuing and withdrawing those efforts in deciding whether to modify a parenting plan to protect the children's best interests. But as this Court has held, "a trial judge is in the best position to assign the *proper weight* to each of the varied factors raised by the submitted affidavits in a particular case," not this Court. Jannot, 149 Wn.2d at 128 (emphasis in original).

This Court should deny review of Division One's unpublished opinion, as it raises no issues of substantial public interest warranting review. Division One's decision is wholly consistent with

statutory and decisional law under RCW 26.09.260(6), and the principles governing review of a trial court's fact-based and discretionary decision to modify the parenting plan.

D. Conclusion.

This Court should deny review.